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1. Name of Property

historic name South Caroclina Penitentiary

other names/site number Central Correctional Institution (CCI)

2. Location

street & number 1511 Williams Street not for publication
city or town Columbia vicinity
state South Carolina code _SC county Richland code _079

zip code 29201

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservaticn Act of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify that
this nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering
properties in the Natlonal Reglister of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set
forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property X meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. I
recommend that this property be considered siynificant nationally astatewide locally.

{___ See continuation sheet for additional comments.) = - -

!

Signature @f certffying official Date
Mary W. Edmonds, Deputy SHPO, S.C. Department of Archives & History, Columbia, S.C.

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meet s does not meet the National Register criteria.
{ See continuation sheet Tor additicnal comments.)
Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and hbureau

4. National Park Service Certification

1, herebhy certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register
See continuation sheet.
determined eligible for the
National Register
See continuation sheet.
determined not eligible for the
National Register
removed from the National Register

other (explain):

Signature of Keeper Date
of Action
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
{Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
private X building(s)
__ public-local ____district
_X public-State ____ site
___ public-Federal ___ structure
___ object
Name of related multiple property listing

(Enter “N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing

7 17 buildings
0 0 sites

1 1 structures
0 0 objects

8 18 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register 0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: GOVERNMENT

Sub:

DOMESTIC

correctional facility

INDUSTRY

institutional housging

HEALTH CARE

manufacturing facility

hospital

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: NOT IN USE Sub:
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

N/A

Narrative Description

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation

STONE: Granite

roof METAL

walls BRICK

STONE

: Granite

other STUCC

)

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

X c Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type period,
or method of construction or represents the work of a master, or

possesses high artistic values,

or represents a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded,

prehistory or history.

or is likely to yield information important
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Criteria Considerations
(Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

A owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.
B removed from its original location.
(o] a birthplace or a grave.
D a cemetery.
E a reconstructed building, object,or structure.
F a commemorative property.
G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.
Areas of Significance Significant Dates
(Enter categories from instructions) N/A
SOCIAL HISTORY
LAW
INDUSTRY
MEDICINE Significant Person
ARCHITECTURE (Complete if Criterion B is marked ahove)
N/A
Cultural Affiliation
N/A
Period of Significance
1860s-1944
Architect/Builder

Todd and Benson
Urgquhart, J.B.

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS)

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.

previously listed in the National Register

previousgly determined eligible by the National Register

designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #

recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

Primary Location of Additional Data
____ State Historic Preservation Office
Other State agency

Federal agency

Local government

| 1]

University
Other
Name of repository: South Caroliniana Library

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property seven

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
1 3

2 4
See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)



USDI/NPS NRHP Registration Form
South Carolina Penitentiary
Richland County, South Carolina (Page # 4)

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Steven A. Davis

organization University of South Carolina date June 18, 1994
street & number 1580 Sunset NE telephone (803) 536-0619
city or town_Orangeburg state SC  zip code 29115

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous
resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items (check with the SHPO or FPQ for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name
street & number telephone
city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places
to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response
to this request is reqguired to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470
et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time
for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this
burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.0. Box 37127,
Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Description

The South Carolina Penitentiary is a complex of buildings and structures located near the
downtown area of Columbia, South Carolina. Defined as the original seven acre penitentiary
tract, the complex contains twenty-six buildings and structures, eight of which contribute to
this nomination. These contributing resources are located in the southern and western ends
of the penitentiary and include residential, industrial, and medical buildings which served
various functions at the South Carolina Penitentiary. The buildings are between one and five
stories tall and built of granite or brick. In general, they have a massive appearance and
few decorative elements. Several are reflective of the prison design ideas popular during the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Most of the eighteen noncontributing buildings
are in the northern end of the penitentiary. These buildings are made of brick and have one
to three stories. The eight contributing resources of the complex retain much of their
original appearance.

Throughout its history, the South Carolina Penitentiary has had an urban setting within the
original city boundary of Columbia. The complex is currently surrounded by the city’s water
treatment plant to the north, office and residential areas to the east, the South Carolina
State Museum and industrial property to the south, and the Columbia Canal and Congaree River
to the west. Historically, the penitentiary has been in an area with a mix of residential and
industrial properties. Though no longer extant, a railroad spur once ran adjacent to the
penitentiary providing transportation for supplies and goods. While the surroundings of the
South Carolina Penitentiary have changed, the basic urban character of the complex’s setting
has remained constant.

The South Carolina Penitentiary is a sprawling complex with buildings dating from the 1860s to
the 1960s. The southwestern corner of the complex has historically been the area of
industrial buildings. Today, the area contains two brick industrial buildings with two and
three floors. Near these two buildings is a two-story brick structure which has served as a
mess hall and a commissary. The above three contributing buildings are similar in appearance
with few decorative elements. Most of the open space between these buildings is covered by
asphalt with small stretches of grass in certain corners. Together with the massive brick
wall on the western side of the penitentiary, the three above buildings give this corner of
the complex the appearance of an industrial area.

The northwestern end of the penitentiary contains several buildings including one contributing
resource. Near the industrial buildings is a three-story stuccoed building. Adjacent to this
contributing structure is a one-story brick building. In the northwestern corner of the
penitentiary is a maximum security area which contains a brick cell block surrounded by a
brick wall with two guard towers. The open space between these buildings contains a few paved
paths and several areas of grass lawns.

Most of the buildings of the eastern side of the penitentiary are connected to a corridor
which runs the length of the complex. This telephone pole design was popular for prisons when
the South Carclina Penitentiary was redesigned in the late 1940s.! The southern end of this
side of the complex contains several contributing buildings included two massive granite
buildings. One is a five-story cell block with brick cells arranged against the outside
walls. The other granite building is a two-story structure built to house convicts. The
third contributing building in the southeastern area of the penitentiary is a one-story brick
structure designed for electrocutions. Noncontributing buildings in this area include several
one-story brick buildings and a chapel with a gabled roof. Thus, this end of the complex is a
mixture of contributing and noncontributing buildings.

'Annual Reports of the Board of Directors and Superintendent of the South Carolina
Penitentiary, 1948-1949, 5-6; 1949-1950, 11; 1956-1957, 6.
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Description (continued)

The northeastern end of the South Carolina Penitentiary has no contributing buildings or
structures. The area contains nine brick buildings all of which are connected to the
corridor. This corner of the complex has a very uniform look since all of its buildings date
from the same general time and have similar appearances.

The South Carolina Penitentiary’s contributing buildings and structures are the Boundary Wall
(1860s-1882), the North Wing Cell Block (1860s-1886), the Electric Chair Building (1912), the
Richards Building (1927-1928), the Chair Factory Building (1932), the Mess Hall Addition
(1932), the Shop Building (1934-1935), and Griffith Hospital (1937-1938). None of the open
areas around the buildings of the complex are contributing to this nomination. The non-
contributing buildings are the Maximum Security Building and its wall, Ward 1/2, Ward 3/4,
Ward 5/6, Ward 7/8, Ward 9/10, Ward 11, Cell Block 2, Cell Block 3, the Vocational Shop, the
Stony Building, the hospital, the mess hall, the chapel, the administration building, the
utility tunnel, and a metal shed by the Chair Factory Building. Most of the noncontributing
structures were built as part of the penitentiary’s building program between 1949 and 1959.°
The one contributing structure and the seven contributing buildings represent a substantial
part of the pre-1944 penitentiary.

The Boundary Wall (1860s-1882):

The Boundary Wall is a prominent structure at the South Carolina Penitentiary. Its foundation
is made of large blocks of granite with the actual wall being constructed out of brick. The
wall’'s coping is made of granite. The pattern of the brick is one course of headers between
every three courses of stretchers. A couple of guard towers rest on top of the wall.

Sections of the wall on the canal side have been replaced and repaired during the
penitentiary’s history. Several nineteenth and early twentieth century industrial buildings
were built with their western walls forming parts of the Boundary Wall. This is the reason
for the windows in the wall along the southern end of the canal side of the structure. During
the 1930s, these industrial buildings were destroyed by fire. Sections of the wall were
damaged and destroyed by these fires. The penitentiary repaired and replaced the damaged
areas of the Boundary Wall.’ These sections of the Boundary Wall still date from its period
of significance and maintain the look of the original wall. With the penitentiary’s building
program after World War II, large parts of the Boundary Wall were removed. The sections that
remain are the entire west side along the Columbia Canal and part of the north side of the
wall. The remaining wall has its historic appearance.

The North Wing Cell Block (18608-1886):

The North Wing Cell Block is a five-story granite structure built to house two hundred and
fifty convicts at the South Carolina Penitentiary. The exterior of the rectangular building
has a typical penitentiary look since it has a massive appearance like a fortress. In
addition, narrow iron grating covers the small window openings and the walls are crenelated at
the top. A brick flue is visible on the northern facade of the building. The southern and
western facades have their first floor sections concealed by brick structures built against
the cell block during the building program after World War II.

The interior of the cell block is arranged with five tiers of arched brick cells against the
outer walls. A courtyard is created in the middle of the structure with five tiers of cells
surrounding it on all sides. The entrance into the building is on the south side. Each cell

‘Annual Reports, 1948-1949, 5-6; 1949-1950, 11; 1956-1957, 6.

’Columbia (South Carolina) Record, 7 April 1932, 1.
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Description (continued)

has one small window in the building’s exterior wall. The cell doors are nineteenth century
grated iron doors which open onto narrow catwalks. The catwalks above the first level are
supported by nineteenth century iron brackets. A staircase is located on the south side of
the interior courtyard and climbs to the fifth tier of cells. A nineteenth century locking
mechanism for the cell doors is still contained in the building. In 1932, one hundred and two
steel cells were placed in the center of the building and later removed. The North Wing Cell
Block has undergone a few minor alterations including the installation of plumbing beginning
in 1938 and grating on the catwalks opposite the cell doors.? Considering its age and length
of service as a cell block, the structure has had surprisingly few alterations.

The Electric Chair Building (1912):

The Electric Chair Building is a one-story brick structure built to house South Carolina’s
electric chair. The rectangular structure is a relatively small building at the South
Carolina Penitentiary. The brick pattern is common bond with a row of headers between every
five rows of stretchers. The south facade of the building contains a single doorway on its
eastern end and no windows. The east facade has a single doorway in its center covered by a
small projecting roof. The seven window openings on the building’s east facade are
asymmetrically arranged with four north of the door, two south of the door, and a smaller one
above the door. The two south of the door and the one above the door are covered over with
bricks. The other windows are covered with iron bars. All of these window openings are near
the top of the facade above the level of the door. A cornerstone at the south corner of the
east facade of the building states that the structure was designed by Todd and Benson of
Charleston and built in 1912. It also gives the superintendent and board of directors at the
time of the building’s construction. The north facade of the Electric Chair Building has two
window openings on either end where two hallways are located in the structure. The west
facade has an appearance similar to the east facade with seven window openings and no
doorways. The walls of the south, west, and north facades extend beyond the roof and include
brick corbelling near their tops. The exterior of this building retains its original
appearance.

The Richards Building (1927-1928):

The Richards Building is a two-story rectangular housing structure built of granite blocks.
Like the neighboring North Wing Cell Block, the Richards Building has a massive fortress
appearance which was seen as appropriate for prison buildings. Its windows are covered by
metal bars. Exterior doors on the north and east sides of the building are made of metal bars
as well. The Richards Building has decorative features which show Egyptian Revival
influences. The structure’s north facade includes a Egyptian Revival doorway in its center.
Two similar doorways are located on the building’s east facade. In addition, there is a
granite stone over the doorway on the north facade with the date 1927. The Egyptian Revival
influences of the Richards Building are seen in the way in which its walls are crenelated.
The crenelated tops of the walls curve outward in the manner typical of the tops of Egyptian
Revival buildings and doorways. At one time, the building had a guard tower on top of its
roof which has since been removed. Though the interior has been altered in major ways, the
exterior of the Richards Building has undergone few changes.

The Chair Factory Building (1932):

The Chair Factory Building is a three-story brick building with a "T" shape. This industrial
building was constructed to house the South Carolina Penitentiary’s chair factory. Along the

‘Annual Reports, 1932, 5; 1938, 6.
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east facade are three stairwells that protrude out from the building. One of these is at the
end of the wing on the building’s east side which forms the "T" shape. The other two are on
the main rectangular part of the building on either side of the wing. In addition, two
elevator shafts are visible above the flat roof. The brick pattern is one row of headers
between every five rows of stretchers. A granite belt runs above the first floor on all of
the building’s facades. The brick walls step in at the granite belt. In addition, another
granite belt runs above the third floor windows. Overall, the different elevations of the
structure have the same appearance. Three one-story wings are on the building’s east facade.
Some of these wings may be original since they have the same appearance as the building’s main
section. If the wings are not original, they were probably added during the late 1940s or
early 1950s after all prison industries were consolidated into the Chair Factory Building.®
Large pieces of machinery rest on the roof of the one-story wing in the northeastern corner of
the "T" shaped building. All three of the wings are quite small relative to the size of the
building and they are of the same style as the original building with brick construction and
granite coping covering the tops of their walls. The Chair Factory Building still retains
most of its original look.

The Messg Hall Addition (1932):

The Mess Hall Addition is a two-story brick building with an *“L* shape. The north end of the
structure is square while the south end is rectangular. The building has an exterior metal
staircase which goes to a door on the second floor of the north side. The newer mess hall was
built against the southeastern sides of this building. The Mess Hall Addition was built as an
one-story structure in 1932 with a second floor being added around 1937 or 1938.¢ The
building has its late 1930s appearance.

The Shop Building (1934-1935):

The Shop Building is a two-story brick building in a rectangular shape. The brick pattern is
one row of headers between every three rows of stretchers. The north facade includes a large
doorway in the center of its first floor and a round opening for a fan in the center of the
second floor. Large doorways are on either side of the center door on the first floor and on
either side of the center fan opening on the second floor. In between and on either side of
these doorways are rows of windows, many of which are covered over with bricks. Other windows
on the building’s facades are covered with metal bars. Protruding out from the west end of
the north facade 1is a one-story cement block wing. This addition was built at an unknown
time. There appears to have been some small doorways added where window openings had been on
the different facades of the building. The east elevation has a similar appearance to the
above one with a plain facade including many window openings covered up by bricks. A metal
staircase leads up to a door on the second floor of the east side of the building. The south
facade of the structure has two rows of windows included some covered over by bricks.
Although this building has undergone significant changes, it’s general appearance is still
original.

Griffith Hospital (1937-1938):
Griffith Hospital is a three-story stuccoed structure with a rectangular shape. The east

facade is the main entrance with several decorative elements. This facade is divided into
three bays by four vertical protrusions which run for most of the height of the structure.

*Annual Report, 1949-1950, 11.

®Annual Reports, 1932, 5; 1938, 5-6.
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The walls of this facade and the others of Griffith Hospital step in just above the ground.

In the center of the facade is a doorway which protrudes out from the building. The doorway
has the appearance of massive stones with an arched entrance into the building. The door into
the structure is made of bars. Two smaller doorways are on either side of the main entrance.
Three windows are on the second story of the east facade with one in each bay. These windows
and most of the others of the building are narrow openings covered by one vertical bar and
numerous horizontal bars. On the third floor and in the center of this elevation is a stone
which states that the building replaced an earlier hospital which was named for Superintendent
D.J. Griffith and destroyed by fire in 1932. The stone gives the board of directors,
superintendent, architects, and builders. Two windows are on the third floor on either side
of the above stone.

The south facade of Griffith Hospital has an extension which is one bay wide and five bays
long. The extension is centered on the south facade with one bay on either side of it. The
bays of this extension are separated by six pilasters which have decorative moldings at the
top of the building. The first floor of this extension has one small door and several small
windows covered with bars. On the second and third floors of this extension are large window
openings in each bay. The window openings cover most of the wall space of these two floors
and are covered with metal grating. The window opening to the east of the center one on the
second floor is covered by a metal sheet with a door in its center. A metal staircase comes
up to this entrance. Above the third floor windows are small pieces of molding with dentils
separated by the top decorative sections of the pilasters. This extension has been altered
during the building’s history. The original appearance included large windows on the first
floor of this facade like those on the second and third floors. In addition, the doorway on
the second floor and the staircase leading to it are not original. This extension was built
to act as a sun porch for patients suffering from tuberculosis. The structure would allow for
good ventilation and much sunlight.’

The west and north facades of Griffith Hospital are divided into bays like the other facades
with small narrow windows one all three floors. These two facades have few decorative
elements. The building’s roof is flat. With a few minor alterations, this hospital structure
maintains its original look.

"Columbia (South Carolina) Record, 8 January 1938, 10.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section 8 Page _6 South Carolina Penitentiary
name of property
Richland County, SC
county and state

Statement of Significance

The South Carolina Penitentiary qualifies for listing on the National Register of Historic
Places under criterion A for its significance to the social history of the state from the late
1860s to 1944. Established in 1866, the penitentiary has followed many of the national trends
in prison reform to improve the treatment of convicts in South Carolina. In addition, the
penitentiary was the beginning of a state penal system which would eventually evolve into the
current South Carolina Department of Corrections. The South Carolina Penitentiary is also
eligible for the National Register under criterion C for its architecture which is reflective
of prison design ideas that were popular in the United States during the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. The penitentiary complex includes seven contributing buildings and one
contributing structure which have historic significance at the state level.

The penal reform movement in the United States was one of a number of reform efforts during
the nineteenth century. In order to turn criminals into responsible citizens, reformers urged
the individual states to create penitentiaries. 1In such an institution, the convicts were to
be isolated from society and the other prisoners as much as possible. This solitude would
keep negative influences away from the convict and allow him time to meditate on his
wrongdoing. Discipline was strictly enforced with severe punishments for those convicts who
disobeyed orders. Also, the convicts were to labor in prison industries which would give them
a work ethic and help support the institution. The penitentiary atmosphere was supposed to
reform a criminal by teaching him to be disciplined and responsible.®

As early as the 1830s, two competing penitentiary systems had been developed. The Auburn
system originated with the construction of New York’s Auburn Prison in 1816. Under this
system, each convict was confined in an individual cell at night and worked in groups during
the day. While working in groups, the inmates were required to remain silent. The other
system was the Pennsylvania system developed at the Eastern Penitentiary in Philadelphia
during the 1820s. This system differed from the Auburn one in that it kept each convict
completely isolated from the other prisoners. Labor had to be performed individually in each
convict’s cell where he would stay constantly. This system necessitated larger cells and a
small recreation yard attached to each cell. The more expensive larger cells and the less
productive individual labor made the Pennsylvania system the least popular of the two systems.
The Auburn style penitentiary quickly became the norm for other state penitentiaries.’

Before the creation of the South Carolina Penitentiary, prisons in the state were run by
individual counties and used mainly for prisoners awaiting trial. Conditions in these
facilities were horrible causing local grand juries to frequently complain. Also, South
Carolina’s penal code imposed fines and public punishments like whipping rather than long-term
imprisonment. The code was severe with one hundred and sixty-five crimes punishable by the
death penalty in 1813. It was within this context that prison reformers in the state
advocated the establishment of a penitentiary as a way to reform the criminal and make the
penal code less severe by having the option of long-term imprisonment. A penitentiary was
first discussed in South Carolina by Governor Arnoldus VanderHorst in the 1790s. During the
antebellum period, prominent reformers in the state included Francis Lieber and Benjamin F.
Perry. However, numerous legislative attempts to create a penitentiary before the Civil War

!David J. Rothman, The Discovery of the Asylum: Social Order and Disorder in the New Republic
(Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1971), 79-108.

’Fred E. Haynes, Criminology (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1935), 270-272;
Rothman, The Discovery of the Asylum, 79-108.
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Statement of Significance (continued)

failed. Though South Carolina was the third state to create a lunatic asylum, it was one of
the last to create a penitentiary.!®

With the close of the Civil War, South Carolina finally took a major step towards improving
the treatment of convicts by creating the South Carolina Penitentiary. Reasons behind the
sudden drive for a penitentiary included the poor financial condition of the counties which
ran the entire jail system at the time and the freeing of the slaves. Before the war, slaves
were dgenerally punished by their masters. The newly freed African-Americans were now to be
punished by the criminal justice system. Also, there was a racist fear that the freed blacks
were going to create major crime problems and that the state needed a large facility to
imprison them.!!

At the urging of Governor James L. Orr, the General Assembly passed an act in 1866 creating
the South Carolina Penitentiary. The penitentiary was created by the Democratic state
government which existed for a short time after the Civil War before the Republicans came to
power during Reconstruction. A three man committee was formed to find a suitable site. A
tract of land on the Congaree River in Columbia was chosen because it was on a canal and a
river which could provide water power for penitentiary industries. In addition, the site was
located in the center of the state and was close to several railroads. The land was purchased
from Thomas J. Rawls and the estate of Benjamin Rawls in October of 1866. Thomas B. Lee was
hired as the architect and engineer of the penitentiary and construction began in 1867. The
South Carolina Penitentiary was to be an Auburn style institution with the main part of the
complﬁf consisting of a south and a north wing with an administrative structure between

them.

The South Carolina Penitentiary adopted the major reform ideas of the Auburn system including
solitary confinement, strict discipline, and group labor. Individual cells for each prisoner
were part of the original plan of the complex. However, the goal of solitary confinement was
rarely achieved at the penitentiary due to the almost constant problem of overcrowding. The
numbeg of cells had already become inadequate by the 1880s with two and three convicts per
cell.

Strict enforcement of prison rules was maintained at the South Carolina Penitentiary. The
institution operated with military discipline. Those convicts who disobeyed the rules
received various punishments. In the early 1870s, the penitentiary abolished certain cruel

%John Charles Thomas, "The Development of an Institution: The Establishment and First Years
of the South Carolina Penitentiary, 1795-1881" (M.A. thesis, University of South Carolina, 1983),
5-52.

'"Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 49-59; Albert D. Oliphant, Penal System of
South Carolina From 1866 to 1916 (Columbia, South Carolina: The State Company, 1916), 3.

PThomas, "The Development of an Institution," 49-62, 73-77; Richland County, South Carolina,
Register of Mesne Conveyances, deeds, book B, p. 441; book B, p.443.

YAnnual Reports of the Board of Directors and Superintendent of the South Carolina
Penitentiary, 1883, 14-16; 1923, 3-4; 1932, 5.
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methods of punishment such as tying up by the thumbs, blind march, spread eagle, and flogging.
However, prisoners could still be punished with the dark cell and solitary confinement.'*

Perhaps the most important reform philosophy of the South Carolina Penitentiary was group
prison labor. Labor by the convicts was necessary to teach prisoners the value of work and
help support the penitentiary. The two systems of convict labor used at the South Carolina
Penitentiary were the public account system and the contract system. The public account
system involved convicts laboring in an operation owned and operated by the state. This
system was the dominant one under the Reconstruction government before 1877 with convicts
working in the granite quarries and workshops needed to construct the penitentiary. The
constru%tion of the penitentiary using convict labor was an example of the public account
system.

In contrast to the public account system, the contract system leased convict laborers to
private companies and to individuals. This includes those convicts who worked within the
penitentiary or outside the penitentiary for a private interest. In 1877, the Democrats came
back into power with the election of Wade Hampton as governor. Unlike the Republicans who had
spent nearly half of a million dollars on the South Carolina Penitentiary during their years
in power, the Democrats were reluctant to spend funds on most state institutions including the
penitentiary. 1In his first address to the General Assembly, Wade Hampton argued that the
state’s institutions should be made as self-sufficient as possible. The General Assembly
subsequently passed an act which allowed the South Carolina Penitentiary to lease out convicts
as laborers.!®

The convict lease system became quite popular in the South after Reconstruction. Democrats in
southern states adopted the system in order to cut the expense of maintaining a state
penitentiary even though the casualty and escape rates were high. Race played a role in the
system as well. Since most southern penitentiaries had large black populations, the system
was similar to the slave system. Like slave laborers, convict laborers were under the total
control of an overseer and were forced to labor for long hours. Abuses also plagued both
systems. At the South Carolina Penitentiary, the population was usually around eighty percent
African-American throughout its history. Racial tensions were certainly a problem at the
institution. The Union League, an African-American group, had accused the penitentiary of
treating black convicts poorly during Reconstruction. Later, certain parts of life at the
penitentiary were segregated including mess halls, dormitories, and recreational activities.!

In 1877, the first two contracts were created for convicts to labor outside the penitentiary
under the supervision of private individuals. The private parties in these contracts were the
Greenwood and Augusta Railroad and Charles Mayhew who was constructing a dam. Convict leasing
became quite popular with railroad and phosphate companies. The leasing of convicts to

“Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 110; Annual Report, 1871-1872, 265.

Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 119-122.

*Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 119-122; Oliphant, Penal System of South
Carolina, 4-5.

"Blake McKelvey, American Prison: A History of Good Intentions (Montclair, New Jersey:
Patterson Smith Publishing Company, 1977), 198-205; Thomas, "The Development of an Institution,"
81; Annual Reports, 1922, 8; 1937-1938, 5-6; 1938-1939, 5.
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outside contractors was eventually abolished due to the poor treatment they received. The
system did achieve the goal of making the penitentiary self-supporting by 1881.'%

South Carolina later adopted the chain gang system under which counties could call back their
prisoners at the South Carolina Penitentiary to work on roads and highways. Like the convict
lease system, chain gangs were popular in the southern states and led to poor treatment of the
convicts. South Carolina began the system around the beginning of the twentieth century and
strengthened it with further legislation in 1914.%

In the meantime, officials at the South Carolina Penitentiary were more interested in
establishing industries within the walls of the institution. These industries would generally
be operated by a private firm under contract with the penitentiary. The types of industries
operated within the penitentiary at different times include a shoe factory operated by A.C.
Dibert, a broom factory operated by Lorick and Lawrence, a hosiery mill operated by Columbia
Hosiery, a chair factory operated by the Fibercraft Chair Company, a garment mill, and other
operations. These prison industries did experience difficulties from the loss of labor to
outside companies and later the chain gangs. During the Great Depression, the prison
industries suffered from a lack of business and federal legislation such as the Hawes-Cooper
Act of 1929 which sought to restrict the shipping of products manufactured by convicts. Even
with all of these difficulties and problems of prison labor, the South Carolina Penitentiary
still relied on the system to support the institution and teach convicts the value of work.?’

Despite the conditions of life and labor that developed in the South Carolina Penitentiary, it
is important to view its origins as a genuine effort to improve the treatment of convicts in
the state. There were the dark sides of the institution’s history including convict leasing,

chain gangs, and poor race relations. Even so, the South Carolina Penitentiary represented a
significant step towards more humane treatment of the state’s prisoners. When compared to the
antebellum county jails, the South Carolina Penitentiary was a major improvement. However,

the desire of the state government to keep the penitentiary profitable stood in the way of
better conditions for the convicts.?!

Besides its role in improving the treatment of prisoners in the state, the South Carolina
Penitentiary is also significant for its role in the development of a state penal system and
the transfer of penal responsibilities from the counties to the state government. The
penitentiary was the first state penal institution in South Carolina when founded in 1866.
Throughout its history, the South Carolina Penitentiary has expanded its role and its
operations. The institution bought the DeSaussure Farm in 1890 and the Reid Farm in 1896 to
work with convict labor. In 1900, the institution founded a reformatory for boys in Lexington
County. By 1938, a women’'s penitentiary had been established on the Broad River. These and

5Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 123, 140-141; Oliphant, Penal System of South
Carolina, 5.

"McKelvey, American Prisons, 211-212; Oliphant, Penal System of South Carolina, 12-13.

““Thomas, "The Development of an Institution," 124; Oliphant, Penal System of South Carolina,
7-8; Annual Reports, 1934-1935, 6; 1936-1937, 8; McKelvey, American Prisons, 199-205; Haynes,

Criminology, 384-385.

“lAnnual Reports, 1883, 14-16; 1911, 46; 1923, 3-4; Thomas, "The Development of an
Institution, " 122-141.
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other facilities which came out of the original South Carolina Penitentiary formed the nucleus
of what would become the South Carolina Department of Corrections in 1960.%

In 1962, Ellis McDougal became the director of the Department of Corrections and soon changed
the name of the South Carolina Penitentiary to the Central Correctional Institution. The
facility remained in use until January of 1994.% The present Central Correctional
Institution complex contains seven buildings and one structure which contribute to its
significance for this nomination to the National Register of Historic Places.

The Boundary Wall (1860s-1882):

The Boundary Wall was a significant part of the original South Carolina Penitentiary, since it
was designed to prevent escapes by the convicts. Begun in the late 1860s, the wall was not
finished until 1882. The structure was built with granite as the foundation for the wall and
brick for the actual wall topped with granite coping. Superintendent J.B. Dennis stated in
1873 that he planned to replace the brick wall sections with granite as soon as possible.
However, the brick wall was never replaced with a granite wall. While the permanent wall was
being constructed, a temporary wooden one surrounded the penitentiary. The long delays in
construction led the superintendent of the penitentiary to complain that his institution had
no secure wall while the South Carolina Lunatic Asylum had a well-built brick wall. From 1882
until 1944 the Boundary Wall served an important function at the South Carolina
Penitentiary.?

The North Wing Cell Block (1860s-1886):

Contrary to popular belief, the extant cell block that dominates the penitentiary complex
today was not the first permanent building erected at the penitentiary. The North Wing Cell
Block was a significant part of the South Carolina Penitentiary from its completion in 1886 to
1944. Today, the cell block is known as Cell Block One. Part of the original plan for the
penitentiary, most of this cell block was built after the South Wing Cell Block was completed
around 1870. The South Wing Cell Block was a five-story structure with five tiers of cells
back to back. Built in the late 1860s, the building was the first permanent structure built
at the penitentiary and served as a cell block until its demolition in 1927. The foundation
work for the North Wing Cell Block was begun during the late 1860s. Actual construction on
the cells began around 1871 using convict labor and granite from nearby quarries around the
Columbia Canal and the Broad River.?s

By the early 1880s, penitentiary officials were anxious for more cells since two or three
convicts were in each existing cell. The completion of the North Wing Cell Block would solve
this overcrowding problem and allow the penitentiary to have one convict per cell as

ZCapers 0. Brazzell, "South Carolina Department of Corrections: A History" (unpublished paper,
South Caroliniana Library, Columbia, South Carolina, 1969), 20-35; Oliphant, Penal System of South
Carolina, 3-4.

“Brazzell, "South Carolina Department of Corrections, " 35; Columbia (South Carolina) State,
22 January 1994, 1A and 10A.

“Annual Reports, 1869-1870, 247; 1873-1874, 5; 1881, 11; 1882, 6.

*Annual Reports, 1869-1870, 248; 1871-1872, 259; Thomas, "The Development of an Institution,*
63-65, 73-75.
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originally planned. Superintendent T.J. Lipscomb complained in 1883 that the General Assembly
had not provided adequate funds for construction and drew comparisons between the facilities
of the penitentiary and those of the South Carolina Lunatic Asylum which were much better. He
also argued that it would be impossible to reform a prisoner without treating him well and
having one inmate per cell. Finally, in 1886 the entire North Wing Cell Block was completed.
The number of cells for men at the South Carolina Penitentiary doubled from two hundred fifty
to five hundred. 1In 1932, one hundred two cells were added to the North Wing Cell Block.
Placed in the cell block to relieve the overcrowding of the early 1930s, these steel cells
were later removed.?®

The North Wing Cell Block is also significant to the South Carolina Penitentiary for its
architecture which is directly connected to the way in which the prison was operated. The
five-story granite building has a fortress-like appearance with its walls crenelated at the
top. The most significant design features are inside the cell block. The South Carolina
Penitentiary was an Auburn style institution and its architecture reflected this fact. The
Auburn style cell block was based on the second wing of the Auburn Prison built in 1819. This
structure had five tiers of cells opening onto catwalks. The tiers were in two rows back to
back inside the exterior walls which provided an outer shell. The structure was masonry with
arched cells of brick. Instead of wooden doors to the cells, the Auburn cell block had doors
of iron grating. Since the Auburn system was based on solitary confinement in cells only at
night, the cells were rather small. This differed from the buildings of the Pennsylvania
system which had larger cells arranged against the outer walls, an outside yvard for each cell,
and no tiers.?

The North Wing Cell Block is essentially an Auburn style cell block. The structure has five
tiers of brick cells with iron grating for doors. Since convicts were in the cells only at
night, the cells are small. The one main difference between the North Wing Cell Block and the
Auburn cell block is the placement of the cells. In the North Wing Cell Block, the cells are
placed against the outer walls rather than back to back within the structure. This variation
of the Auburn style was known as the Baltimore pattern which became popular in the South and
the Wesg. The North Wing Cell Block is a significant example of nineteenth century cell block
design.

The Electric Chair Building (1912):

The Electric Chair Building was the result of an effort to improve the manner in which
executions were carried out in South Carolina. Electrocution was first used in 1890 by the
state of New York. The method was seen as progressive since it supposedly gave the condemned
person a painless death. As a result, the electric chair soon became popular and was adopted
by a number of states. In 1912, South Carolina became the eighth state to use

this device to carry out an execution.?®

**Annual Reports, 1883, 16-18; 1885, 11; 1886, 6; 1932, 5.

"McKelvey, American Prisons, 12-13; Haynes, Criminology, 268-269.

*McKelvey, American Prisons, 43-45, 61.

»William J. Bowers, Executions in America (Lexington, Massachusetts: D.C. Heath and Company,
1974), 9-10.
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The adoption of electrocution was not the first change that the state had made in the way
convicts were executed. In 1878, South Carolina abolished public executions in an effort to
improve the system. Before the adoption of the electric chair, executions were carried out by
hanging in the individual counties. The 1912 act adopting electrocution represented an
attempt to make executions more humane as well as another transfer of penal

responsibilities from the counties to the state. This act ordered the South Carolina
Penitentiary to construct the necessary facilities to house the electric chair which would
replace hanging as the state’s form of execution. The individual county was to pay for
transporting a condemned convict to the penitentiary between two and twenty days before the
execution date. The act was passed by the General Assembly on February 17, 1912.3°

The Electric Chair Building was constructed in 1912 to house the electric chair. The
structure was designed by the firm of Todd and Benson of Charleston and built at a cost of
just over eight thousand dollars. The penitentiary contributed materials and labor. This
structure was the scene of two hundred and forty electrocutions between 1912 and 1962.°! Among
those convicts electrocuted in this building was George Stinney, Jr., a fourteen year old
African-American who was accused of killing two white girls near Alcolu in Clarendon County.
Despite appeals from several unions and other individuals, Governor 0Olin D. Johnston refused
to grant clemancy and Stinney was electrocuted on June 16, 1944. Stinney was the youngest
person ever legally executed in South Carolina at the time. Today, the building is known as
the Death House.??

The Richards Building (1927-1928):

The Richards Building was a significant part of the South Carolina Penitentiary from 1927 to
1944. Built as a women’s building, the structure was badly needed since the older facility
for women was in horrible condition. Throughout the 1920s, penitentiary officials had
complained of the conditions in the old building for women. These conditions in the building
created fire and health threats. 1In fact, the State Board of Health had condemned the
building before 1920. Finally, by 1927 efforts were under way to demolish the original South
Wing Cell Block and replace it with a new women’s building.?’

A total of eighty-five thousand dollars was allocated to tear down the South Wing Cell Block
and replace it with the new building. The new women’s building was built partially with
material salvaged from the demolished South Wing Cell Block and was finished in early 1928.
The building was named in honor of John G. Richards, the governor of South Carolina at the
time. When finished, the Richards Building was praised as one of the most modern women's
prison facilities in the nation.?®

%Acts and Joint Resolutions of the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina Passed
at the Regular Session of 1877-78 (Columbia, South Carolina: Calvo & Patton, 1878), 381; Acts and
Joint Resolutions Also Certain Concurrent Resolutions of the General Assembly of the State of
South Carolina Passed at the Regular Session of 1912 (Columbia, South Carolina: Gonzales and
Bryan, 1912), 702.

JlAnnual Report, 1912, 10; Bowers, Executions in America, 35.

?Columbia (South Carolina) State, 16 June 1944, 1-A; 17 June 1944, 1-A.

»Annual Reports, 1922, 6; 1923, 3; 1927, 4.

¥Annual Reports, 1927, 4-5; 1928, 3.
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The Richards Building was the scene of a prison riot on December 12, 1937. Six convicts went
to the office of Captain J. 0Olin Sanders located in the building. Using a knife made from an
ice pick and a wooden gun, the six convicts held Sanders hostage for several hours. They
demanded that a car be brought to the building and that they be allowed to leave. Governor
Olin D. Johnston gave orders to shoot tear gas into the building. The six convicts came out
only after killing Captain Sanders. The Richards Building also housed the solitary
confinement cells known as "Cuba." In 1938, the female convicts were removed from the central
penitentiary to a new women’s penitentiary elsewhere.?®

The Richards Building is architecturally significant. Like the North Wing Cell Block, this
building’s exterior is made from granite and has a fortress-like appearance with the walls
crenelated at the top. The Richards Building also has Egyptian Revival influences. This
style was first used at a prison in 1832 with the completion of the Moyamensing Debtor’s
Prison in Philadelphia and the New Jersey State Penitentiary in Trenton. However, the
building that popularized the use of Egyptian Revival architecture for prisons was John
Haviland’s 1838 New York City Halls of Justice and House of Detention or The Tombs. The
Richards Building reflects the use of this style at prisons with its Egyptian Revival doorways
and the way in which the crenelated tops of the walls curve outward.3®

The Chair Factory Building (1932):

The Chair Factory Building was built in 1932 to house an important industry at the South
Carolina Penitentiary. Established in 1917, the chair factory was operated by the Fibercraft
Chair Company and was an example of the contract system of prison labor.?’ The earlier
buildings of this factory were destroyed in a major fire at the penitentiary on April 6, 1932.
In 1930 and 1931, reports had warned penitentiary officials of the danger of fire due to the
congestion at the chair factory with excelsior on the floor and the lack of a working water
hydrant at the prison. The 1932 fire destroyed about one third of the penitentiary including
most of t&ﬁ industrial buildings and was one of the most severe losses of state property at
the time.

Rebuilding the chair factory was a top priority for the penitentiary due to the loss of six to
twelve thousand dollars in revenue per month. The General Assembly passed a bill authorizing
the penitentiary to borrow forty thousand dollars to rebuild. However, the new building was
built with insurance funds and no money was borrowed. J.B. Urquhart of Columbia was the
architect for the factory building and the firm of W.A. Crary and Son of Columbia was the
contractor having underbid eighteen other firms with a price of around sixty-five thousand
dollars. Construction began in May of 1932 and involved convict laborers. The new structure
had three stories and housed the entire chair factory which had been housed in seven smaller
buildings before the fire. To avoid another disaster, the building was made to be fireproof

¥columbia (South Carolina) Record, 13 December 1937, 1 and 5; 14 December 1937, 6; Annual
Report, 1937-1938, 6.

¥Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture, 1607-1860 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press,
1992), 177.

"Annual Reports, 1917, 4-5; 1922, 16; 1932, 3.

*Columbia (South Carolina) Record, 7 April 1932, 1 and 10; 18 April 1932, 4.
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and included a sprinkler system. It also included two freight elevators from the Otis
Elevator Company.?®®

Once in the new building, the chair factory regained its place as a major prison industry.
For example, the average number of workers at the plant in late 1939 and early 1940 was one
hundred and thirty-eight. By the early 1950s, all of the penitentiary’s industries had been
moved into the Chair Factory Building. From 1932 to 1944, the building was vital to the
industrial operations of the South Carolina Penitentiary.*°

The Mess Hall Addition (1932):

The Mess Hall Addition was constructed for extra space to feed the convicts at the South
Carolina Penitentiary. Originally, the building was one-story and apparently served as a mess
hall for the African-American prisoners. Around 1937 or 1938, a second floor was added to
relieve overcrowding and to enable the penitentiary to feed all of the prisoners at once
rather than in groups. More recently, the building was used as a commissary.*

The Shop Building (1934-1935):

The Shop Building housed several workshops at the South Carolina Penitentiary from 1935 until
1944. The building replaced the three-story Federal Building which was destroyed by fire in

October of 1934. The new building was built as a two-story structure using part of the walls
of the old Federal Building. The Shop Building housed a grist mill, carpenter shop, garage,

cold storage plant, and other storage areas.*?

Griffith Hospital (1937-1938):

The Griffith Hospital played an important function at the South Carolina Penitentiary as a
center of medical treatment for the inmates from 1938 to 1944. This structure replaced an
earlier hospital building which was built in 1905. The earlier building was a tuberculosis
hospital and was constructed due to the large number of deaths at the penitentiary from
tuberculosis. The building was named in honor of D.J. Griffith, the superintendent at the
time of its construction. Unfortunately, the building was lost in the 1932 fire which also
destroyed the chair factory previously discussed. The ruins of the building remained standing
in the pegitentiary vard for several years before the structure was rebuilt as a new hospital
facility.

¥Columbia (South Carolina) Record, 8 April 1932, 1 and 14; 13 April 1932, 1; 11 May 1932,
1; 15 July 1932, 7; Annual Report, 1932, 5.

“Annual Reports, 1939-1940, 8; 1948-1949, 5; 1949-1950, 11.

1annual Reports, 1932, 5; 1938, 5-6.

“’Columbia (South Carolina) State, 21 October 1934, 1-A; Annual Report, 1935, 6.

“Annual Reports, 1905, 5; 1937-1938, 5.
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The 1936 General Assembly appropriated fifty thousand dollars for the construction of a new
general hospital at the South Carolina Penitentiary. The building was originally planned as a
Public Works Administration project, but these plans were changed after the proposal was
delayed by officials with that agency. Penitentiary officials decided to construct the
building with prison labor which would give work to fifty convicts. Begun in June of 1937,
the hospital was completed in January of 1938 at a cost of around forty thousand dollars.
Named Griffith like its predecessor, the new three-story hospital building had room for one
hundred patients and included facilities for dental work. A sun porch was included on the
south side for tuberculosis patients. The hospital itself was moved to another building in
1958 after the Griffith Hospital was condemned by the Columbia City Fire Department and the
health department.*

SUMMARY:

The South Carolina Penitentiary Complex is eligible for the National Register under criterion
A for social history and criterion C for architecture. The institution played a major role in
penal reform in South Carolina from 1866 to 1944. 1In addition, the penitentiary was the
beginning of a state penal system which eventually evolved into the modern South Carolina
Department of Corrections. Lastly, the complex is significant for the architectural and
design features of some of its buildings.

*Columbia (South Carolina) Record, 22 June 1937, 1; 8 January 1938, 10; Annual Reports, 1937-
1938, 5; 1951-1952, 5; 1957-1958, 4.
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Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the penitentiary complex are Hampton Street to the south, a penitentiary
driveway which was formerly Gist Street to the east, the city of Columbia‘’s water treatment
plant to the north, and the Columbia Canal to the west. Gist Street does not currently run
next to the complex as it did historically. With the penitentiary’s later expansions, that
section of Gist Street was closed. The street’s path is currently a driveway across the
penitentiary separating the buildings from the recreation field.

Verbal Boundary Justification

This is the approximate tract of land bought by the state for the penitentiary in 1866.
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location of original negatives: South Carolina State Historic Preservation Office

View of Richards Building and North Wing Cell Block from south
Northwest corner of Boundary Wall viewed from canal

West side of Boundary Wall viewed from canal

Southwest corner of Boundary Wall viewed from canal

West side of Boundary Wall viewed from canal

East side of Boundary Wall viewed from within the penitentiary
West facade of North Wing Cell Block

North and West facades of North Wing Cell Block

East facade of North Wing Cell Block

10. Interior view of tiers of cells in North Wing Cell Block

11. Door of iron grating in North Wing Cell Block

12. Brackets supporting catwalk in North Wing Cell Block

13. Locking mechanism in North Wing Cell Block

14. South and east facades of Electric Chair Building

15. South and east facades of Electric Chair Building

16. East facade of Electric Chair Building

17. Cornerstone of Electric Chair Building

18. North facade of Richards Building

19. North facade of Richards Building

20. Doorway on north facade of Richards Building

21. East facade of Richards Building

22. Two doorways on east facade of Richards Building

23. South elevation of Chair Factory Building

24. sSouthern end of east elevation of Chair Factory Building

25. Northwestern view of southern end of Chair Factory Building
26. Northwestern view of wing on the east side of Chair Factory Building
27. Southwestern view of wing on east elevation of Chair Factory Building
28. Northern end of east elevation of Chair Factory Building

29. Northern end of east elevation of Chair Factory Building

30. North elevation of Chair Factory Building

31. North elevation of Chair Factory Building

32. North elevation and west elevation of Chair Factory Building
33. West side of Chair Factory Building from canal

34. West side of Chair Factory Building from canal

35. North elevation of shop Building

36. East and north elevations of Shop Building

37. East and north elevations of Shop Building

38. South elevation of Shop Building

39. East facade of Griffith Hospital

40. Doorway on east facade of Griffith Hospital

41. Stone on east facade of Griffith Hospital

42. South elevation of Griffith Hospital

43. West elevation of Griffith Hospital
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Note: The Mess Hall Addition was not photographed with the rest of the contributing buildings
during April of 1994. Due to problems in gaining access to the penitentiary at a later date,

photographs of that structure are not included.
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This property is listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in accordance with the attached nomination documentation
subject to the following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments,
notwithstanding the National Park Service certification included
in the nomination documentation.
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Amended Items in Nomination:

Section No. 3: This nomination is amended to show that the
appropriate level of significance is state.

Section No. 8: The nomination is also amended to delete law,
industry, and medicine as areas of significance. The property is
significant in the areas of social history and architecture, as
indicated in the text.

Section No. 10: The UTM's for the property are: 1:
17/495280/3762320; 2: 17/495380/3762040; 3: 17/495220/3761980; 4:
17/495060/3762240.

These changes have been confirmed by phone with South Carolina
SHPO (2/21/96).

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)



